
  1700 S. El Camino Real, Suite 405 
San Mateo, CA  94402-3050 

                                                                                                                                 www.first5sanmateo.org 

 

 

FIRST 5 SAN MATEO COUNTY 
PROGRAM, OPERATIONS AND PLANNING (POP) COMMITTEE MEETING  

 
As authorized by Governor Newsom’s Executive Orders N-25-20 and N-29-20, dated March 
12, 2020 and March 17, 2020 respectively, the meeting will be held via teleconferencing with 
members of the Commission attending from separate remote locations.  The meeting will be 
held and live cast from the following location where members of the public shall have the 
right to observe and offer public comment:   

 
DATE:        April 5, 2021  

          TIME:         4:00 – 5:00 PM  

Join Zoom Meeting 

Online: 
https://smcgov.zoom.us/j/99738963673?pwd=Y2tjaER3SElPN1h6ZDEvQmRUTnp
OQT09 

Meeting ID: 997 3896 3673, Passcode: 803146 

Phone: +1 669 900 6833   

         
This altered format is in observance of the recommendation by local officials that certain 
precautions be taken, including social distancing, to address the threat of COVID-19.   

 

 
COMMISSION MEMBERS:    Ken Cole, Sandra Phillips-Sved (Chair), Nancy Magee  

 

PUBLIC MEMBER:  Harvey Kaplan, M.D.  

STAFF:     Kitty Lopez, Michelle Blakely, Emily Roberts, Myra Cruz 

 

AGENDA 

1.  Approval of the April 5, 2021 Program, Operations and Planning 
Committee Meeting Agenda 

Phillips-Sved 

2.  Approval of the February 1, 2021 Program, Operations and Planning 
Committee Meeting Minutes  

(See Attachment 2)   

Phillips-Sved 

3.  Early Identification and Intervention Environmental Scan in San 
Mateo County  

(See Attachment 3) 
Blakely/Roberts 

4.  Oral Health Initiative RFP Process Update 
(Verbal Updates)   Roberts 

5.  Child Care Response Team Update 

(Verbal Updates) 
Blakely 

6.  Adjournment  

NEXT MEETING: June 7, 2021 

 

https://smcgov.zoom.us/j/99738963673?pwd=Y2tjaER3SElPN1h6ZDEvQmRUTnpOQT09
https://smcgov.zoom.us/j/99738963673?pwd=Y2tjaER3SElPN1h6ZDEvQmRUTnpOQT09
https://smcgov.zoom.us/j/99738963673?pwd=Y2tjaER3SElPN1h6ZDEvQmRUTnpOQT09
https://smcgov.zoom.us/j/99738963673?pwd=Y2tjaER3SElPN1h6ZDEvQmRUTnpOQT09


  Attachment 2 

                                                  Page 1 of 2 
   

 
First 5 San Mateo County (F5SMC) 

Program, Operations and Planning (POP) 
COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES 

 
February 1, 2021 

Virtual Meeting Via Zoom 
 

Commissioners Present: Sandra Phillips-Sved (Chair), Ken Cole, Nancy Magee 

Public Member:  Harvey Kaplan 

Staff:    Kitty Lopez, Michelle Blakely, Myra Cruz 
 

Commissioner Phillips-Sved called the meeting to order at 4:05 PM. 

1. Approval of the February 1, 2021 Program, Operations, and Planning Committee 
Meeting Agenda: 

MOTION: Commissioner Phillips-Sved / SECOND: Commissioner Magee. Motion 
approved. 

 

2. Approval of the October 5, 2020 Program, Operations, and Planning Committee 
Meeting Minutes: 

MOTION: Commissioner Cole / SECOND: Commissioner Phillips-Sved. Motion approved. 

 

3. Elect POP Committee Chair 

The Committee unanimously re-elected Commissioner Phillips-Sved as POP Committee 
Chair. 
 

4. Race and Equity Discussion 

Kitty Lopez, F5SMC’s Executive Director, shared that she and Michelle Blakely met with the 
consultants of the With/In Collaborative consulting firm to discuss how to conduct the race 
& equity study session with the Commission. One of the study sessions’ purposes is to 
understand how families perceive inequities and racism in their environment. We will send a 
Doodle calendar to the Commission to find out a date and time that would work with all the 
Commissioners for the study session. 

Commissioners Cole and Phillips-Sved provided their insights coming from their respective 
work settings in the county. 

 

5. First 5 San Mateo County Website 

Michelle Blakely, F5SMC’s Deputy Director, shared a sneak peak of the F5SMC’s new 
website.  F5SMC’s website redesign is part of the F5SMC’s Communications Plan. Blakely 
shared the changes including F5SMC website’s expanded family resource page and 
partner links. We will also be showing the website at the next Commission meeting. 

The Committee asked questions and provided feedback. 

 



  Attachment 2 

                                                  Page 2 of 2 
   

6. Other:  

TRISI (Trauma- and Resiliency- Informed Systems Initiative) Readiness Survey  

Michelle Blakely encouraged the Committee to spread the word about and or attend the 
F5SMC TRISI Organizational Assessment Meeting scheduled on February 10, 2021. TRISI 
consultants from Hamai Consulting, Trauma Transformed and F5 Staff will discuss the 
components and stages of being a trauma-informed organization; review a readiness 
checklist and provide an overview of coaching supports for select agencies that participate 
beyond taking the organizational assessment. Updates on TRISI will be provided at 
Commission meetings and the ED report. 

 
Meeting adjourned 4:41 pm.   
 
 



Date:      April 5, 2021   

To:         First 5 San Mateo County Program, Operations & Planning Committee (POP) 

From:     Emily Roberts, Health & Development Specialist and  
   Michelle Blakely, Deputy Director 

Re:         Early Identification and Intervention Environmental Scan in San Mateo County 

 
 
ACTION REQUESTED 
Review and Discussion of the Early Identification and Intervention Environmental Scan. The 
Preface and Executive Summary provide an overview of the full report.  
 
BACKGROUND 
“First 5 San Mateo County (F5SMC) has long prioritized the importance of identifying children 
with special needs as early as possible and linking them to the services and supports that they 
need to thrive. The F5SMC Strategic Plan for 2020-2025 explicitly calls out the intent for our 
investments to bolster ongoing efforts to address systemic issues that impact access to and 
quality of these services as a primary goal. Stakeholder feedback over time and throughout the 
planning process has identified timely access to early intervention services as a priority. As we 
reflect on our systems in the spirit of continuous growth, we know it’s more critical than ever to 
examine the disproportionate impacts they have on families, particularly on families of color, and 
embrace a trauma-informed, family-centered lens. With direct feedback from families, we see 
the potential for our system of care to reflect the equity we strive for as a society.” (EII IN SMC 
Scan 2021).  (See Attachment 3.1) 
 
CONSIDERATIONS 

• A Presentation by Emily Roberts will be provided at the POP meeting in preparation for 
the F5SMC April 22nd Commission Meeting presentation. 

• Key informants were generous in sharing their perspectives, expertise, data and 
feedback on the EII Scan 

• The final design of the EII Scan is in progress by VIVA Social Impact Partners 
 
ACTION REQUESTED 
Review and discussion only of the Early Identification and Intervention Environmental Scan in 
SMC. The Executive Summary provides an overview of the full report 
 
 

Attachment 3 



Attachment 3.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Early Identification and Intervention System 
 in San Mateo County 

 
An Environmental Scan 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

First 5 San Mateo County 
March 2021 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 



Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 2

  

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

 
Cheryl Oku Consulting, Primary Author 
 

Special thanks to Emily Roberts and Michelle Blakely, First 5 San Mateo County, for their vision 
and support 

 
● Sarah Crow, First 5 Center for Children’s Policy 
● Anne de Battista, Developmental-Behavioral Pediatrics, Stanford Children’s Health 
● Carol Elliott, AbilityPath 
● Loren Farrar, First 5 Alameda County 
● Dominique Gallagher, Golden Gate Regional Center 
● Emily Gudaitis, Community and Government Affairs, Stanford Children’s Health 
● Diana Harlick, San Mateo County Office of Education 
● Ben Loewy, San Mateo County SELPA 
● Mara McGrath, Community and Government Affairs, Stanford Children’s Health 
● Edirle Meneses, San Mateo County Office of Education 
● Paul Olgivie, Golden Gate Regional Center 
● Alexandra Parma, First 5 Center for Children’s Policy 
● Anjanette Pelletier, San Mateo County SELPA 
● Lisa Rosene, Golden Gate Regional Center 
● Sophie Scheidlinger, Health Plan of San Mateo 
● Sonia Valenzuela, Help Me Grow San Mateo County, AbilityPath 

 
Thank you to the San Mateo County pediatricians who participated in the survey. 
 
In appreciation of the many families with young children with special needs in San Mateo 
County and the providers and systems working together to ensure their optimal health and 
development.  



Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 3

  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
 
2 Acknowledgements 
 
4 Preface 
 
5 Executive Summary 
 
8 Introduction 
 
10 Part 1: The Early Identification and Intervention System in San Mateo County 
 
18 Part 2: Barriers to Early Identification and Intervention 
 
23 Part 3: Opportunities to Reduce Barriers and Improve the Local  
           Early Identification System 
 
29 Next Steps: Developing shared priorities to target systems change efforts and action 
 
30 Endnotes 
 
 

 
  



Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 4

  

PREFACE 
 

 

First 5 San Mateo County (F5SMC) has long prioritized the importance of identifying children 

with special needs as early as possible and linking them to the services and supports that they 

need to thrive. The F5SMC Strategic Plan for 2020-2025 explicitly calls out the intent for our 

investments to “bolster ongoing efforts to address systemic issues that impact access to and 

quality of these services” as a primary goal. Stakeholder feedback over time and throughout the 

planning process has identified timely access to early intervention services as a priority.  

 

As we reflect on our systems in the spirit of continuous growth, we know it’s more critical than 

ever to examine the disproportionate impacts they have on families, particularly on families of 

color, and embrace a trauma-informed, family-centered lens. With direct feedback from families, 

we see the potential for our system of care to reflect the equity we strive for as a society. 

 

The information gathered as a part of this scan highlights critical barriers and potential 

opportunities for local stakeholders to consider in an effort to mitigate these challenges. This 

scan serves as the basis for a collective call to action to address these barriers through a multi-

tiered approach with emphasis at the state and local levels, involving service recipients, 

providers, policy makers, and funders in a model of shared leadership and innovative solution-

finding. In essence, this scan invites us all to come together to fulfill our collective vision for our 

children in San Mateo County, Success for Every Child. 

 
 
 
 
 

“Real and equitable progress requires exceptional attention 
 to the detailed and often mundane work of noticing 

 what is invisible to many.” 
 

-FSG, The Water of Systems Change, 2018  



Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 5

  

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Early Identification and Intervention System in San Mateo County:  

An Environmental Scan 

 

First 5 San Mateo County invests in early childhood development issues through combined 

financial investments in direct services and systems level work. Most recently, First 5 SMC 

launched Help Me Grow San Mateo County, a special needs initiative bolstering the continuum 

of services that identifies and treats young children with special needs as part of an ongoing 

effort to address systemic issues that impact access to and quality of services.  Timely access 

to early intervention services was an issue raised in the planning process for the 2020-2023 

funding cycle. The information gathered as a part of this scan highlights critical barriers and 

opportunities for local stakeholders to consider in efforts to mitigate these barriers. 

 

 
 

Figure 1: Early Identification and Intervention System Components 

EARLY IDENTIFICATION EARLY INTERVENTION 

Health 

Care 

Early Care 

and 

Education 

Family 

Support and 

Community 

Based 

Services 

Families Regional 

Center 

School 

Districts 

Mental 

Health 

Managed 

Care/ 

Health 

Plans 

 

 

Despite a well-established EII system and collective efforts to find and support children with 

special needs, there is still a significant gap between the estimates of children with significant 

delays and the number of children receiving EII services. This gap clearly indicates that many 

more children would benefit from services to promote their optimal development during the 

critical early years and highlights the need to improve how children are being identified and 

connected to the EII system in San Mateo County. 

 

Placeholder: quotation from a parent or photo 

 



Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 6

  

Described below are key barriers identified as impacting children’s access to EII services and 

some potential opportunities to address these barriers at a local level. 

 

BARRIER: Children with delays are not being identified early. 

The CDC estimates that 1 in 5 or 17% of children have developmental delays.  However, only 

7% of children ages 0-5 receive developmental services in San Mateo County. Developmental 

screenings are recommended for all children at 9, 18 and 24 months, although only 1 in 5 or 

21% of children receive developmental screenings in San Mateo County. 

 

OPPORTUNITY 1: Expand early identification through shared responsibility for Child 

Find and increased access to developmental screenings for all children in primary care, 

early care and learning and family support settings. 

Strategies to consider might include collaborative partnerships with GGRC to further expand 

Child Find efforts; leveraging existing screening resources, such as online ASQ screenings 

through Help Me Grow; or expanded outreach to pediatric practices to increase developmental 

screenings 

 

BARRIER: Barriers to access are based on a model that relies on IDEA mandated services and 

overlooks a network of invaluable community-based interventions and services available to 

serve children in inclusive and family-centered settings.  

 

OPPORTUNITY 2:   Shift our concept of EII from detect and refer to a focus on providing 

a continuum of services for children at-risk and matching services to the unique needs of 

children and families.  Moving to a framework that includes a system of tiered interventions 

available to meet the needs of all young children and their families has the potential to serve 

many more children at risk, including those with mild to moderate delays, while continuing to 

serve children with significant delays.  

  

BARRIER: When children are referred for early intervention services, their families and 

referring providers encounter barriers to accessing services. 

Families may find the referral process confusing or may not understand how their child would 

benefit from these services.  Sixty percent of pediatric providers surveyed indicated that the 

referral process was challenging or particularly challenging. 

 

OPPORTUNITY 3:  Make high quality care coordination available to all young children 

with special needs to ensure they receive timely and appropriate developmental services. 

Pediatric and community care coordination for families seeking services for their child with 

special needs ensures that children are linked to services.   

 

BARRIER:  Even when referrals for early intervention are successful, the assessment 

process for early intervention often extends beyond the mandated 45-day timeline.   

In 2018, 60.61% of infants received timely services (45 days) for IFSPs from GGRC in 

comparison to the California average for timely services of 82.44%. 

 



Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 7

  

OPPORTUNITY 4:  Support families to receive timely access to assessment through 1) 

targeted care coordination to support linkage to services, 2) an alternative dispute 

resolution process, and 3) increased collaboration with GGRC to better understand the 

mechanisms to address systemic barriers such as timelines more expediently and 

partner on solutions. 

Due to their rapid growth and brain development from 0-3 years, timely access to EII services is 

of critical importance for young children. While parents have rights to pursue legal action for 

delays and disagreements, enhanced care coordination and access to a transparent alternative 

process  to resolve disagreements could provide quicker resolution and access to services. 

BARRIER:  In complex systems such as the EII system, transparency of metrics and sharing of 

data across agencies is needed to accurately describe how well the system is doing in meeting 

goals, to plan improvements, and to measure their effectiveness and continue to adjust. 

OPPORTUNITY 5:  Promote transparency and interagency data sharing to fully 

understand the current landscape of EII services, make informed decisions where to 

target systems improvement efforts and to ensure that children with special needs are 

being connected to services.  For example, a shared screening  database countywide would 

provide accurate baseline data, reduce duplication of services, and provide a way to measure 

progress towards the goals of identifying children early in order to connect them to 

developmental services. 

 

NEXT STEPS 

If systems change means “shifting the conditions that keep problems in place”, the conditions 

that we most need to shift will need to address resource flows to ensure coordinated policies for 

a high quality EII system.  The next steps in addressing systemic barriers will require 

collaborative development of shared priorities and action for local system change efforts. 

Aligning our local efforts with organizations advocating for policy, budget and legislative change 

addressing systemic barriers with transparency and accountability at the state level, such as the 

First 5 Center for Children’s Policy is highly recommended. 

 

 “Children deserve our collective attention and action. We look forward to co-creating solutions 

that move the EII System to a more robust and sustainable reality for children, families and 

providers.” 

      Michelle Blakely, First 5 San Mateo County 

  



Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 8

  

EARLY IDENTIFICATION AND INTERVENTION SYSTEM IN SAN MATEO COUNTY 
An Environmental Scan 

 
INTRODUCTION 

 Experts agree that the foundations of lifelong health are built in the early years and that 
early detection of developmental concerns and connection to services lead to the best 
outcomes for young children. Early detection is critical for children who experience 
developmental or behavioral problems.1 For young children who have developmental delays, 
early intervention services can improve development in many domains such as language and 
communication,2, 3 cognitive,4 and behavioral or social-emotional.   Early identification and 
intervention (EII) reduces the need for life-long developmental services and special education,6 

improves child nutrition and health, and reduces child abuse and neglect.7 In San Mateo County, 
the Early Identification and Intervention (EII)  system encompasses a network of agencies and 
programs providing  services for young children with special needs and their families ranging 
from early childhood education to specialized services such as physical and occupational 
therapy, speech therapy, special education, behavioral therapy and early childhood mental 
health to medical services for children with special health care needs. 

The system for finding and connecting young children with special needs to EII relies on the 
combined efforts of the regional center, community-based initiatives and providers serving 
young children and their families. Early identification activities include developmental screenings 
and referrals for further evaluation and services and are conducted in medical, early education 
and family support settings.  

 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
San Mateo County is home to 49,557 young children from birth through 5 years.8  While most 

children are developing typically and meeting developmental milestones, the Centers for 

Disease Control (CDC)  and American Academy of Pediatrics  (AAP) estimate that 17% or 1 in 
6 children have a disability or significant developmental delay.9  Based on GGRC and San 
Mateo Special Education Local Plan Area (SELPA)  reported data,  only 6% of children 0-5 
years in San Mateo County currently receive EII or preschool special education services.   
 
Despite a well-established EII system and our combined efforts to find and support children with 
special needs, there is a gap between the estimates of children with significant delays and the 
number of children receiving EII services. This gap clearly indicates that many more children 
would benefit from services to promote their optimal development during the critical early years 
and highlight the need to improve how children are being identified and connected to the EII 
system in San Mateo County. 

 
 
The purpose of this environmental scan is 1) to describe the EII system in San Mateo County, 2) 
to report on barriers to EII services and 3) to highlight opportunities to reduce barriers and 
improve the local system of care. 

Definition of Children with Special Needs: Those children who have or at 
risk for a chronic physical, developmental, behavioral, or emotional condition and 
who also require health and related services of a type or amount beyond that 
required by children generally. 

-Maternal Child and Health Bureau, U.S. Department of Health and Human 
Services 

 

  



Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 9

  

For purposes of this paper, the early identification and intervention system (EII) consists of 
entities that serve children ages 0 to 5 and that: 

● Conduct surveillance, screening and/or formal assessment for developmental delays, 
behavioral concerns, and disabilities. 

● Provide care coordination and/or navigation support for families with children who have, 
or are at risk for, developmental delays, behavioral concerns, and disabilities. 

● Deliver intervention services for children with or at risk for developmental delays, 
behavioral concerns, and disabilities 

While the landscape of EII includes both Early Start for 0-3 years and Preschool Special 
Education for 3-5 years, the selected focus of this paper is access to EII services for the 
youngest and most vulnerable children from 0-3 years and their families. 
 
Due to the design of the environmental scan, information on family barriers was gathered 
through family-serving providers and advocates that have documented barriers over time rather 
than interviews or surveys of individual families. Given its critical importance, there will be future 
opportunities for incorporating direct family perspectives. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 10

  

Part 1: THE EARLY IDENTIFICATION AND INTERVENTION SYSTEM IN SAN MATEO 
COUNTY 

San Mateo County has a well-established EII system including services mandated by the 
Individuals With Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) and a network of agencies and programs that 
provide services for young children and their families.  Services range from community-based 
services, home visiting, family support services and early childhood education to specialized 
services such as physical and occupational therapy, speech therapy, special education, 
behavioral therapy to medical services for children with special health care needs. 
 
IDEA Mandated Services 
Based on the federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), EII services are 
available for children with disabilities from birth to 3 years through Part C and for children 3-5 
years with specific disabilities impacting educational outcomes through Part B.  In California, the 
Department of Developmental Services (DDS) is responsible for Part C early intervention or 
Early Start services for infants and toddlers and contracts with 21 Regional Centers to 
administer EII services.  The California Department of Education (CDE) administers Part B 
Special Education services with public schools responsible for providing appropriate services for 
children 3-5 years. 
 
In San Mateo County, Golden Gate Regional Center (GGRC) provides Early Start services 
including outreach, referrals, assessments and evaluation, Individualized Family Service Plans 
(IFSP), developmental services delivered by contracted specialized service providers, and 
transition services to school district services for children at 3 years.  
 
During the past year, 1,657 children in San Mateo County 0-3 years received Early Start 
services.10 In 2019, GGRC received 995 referrals with 717 cases assigned for assessment.  
However, in 2020, only 843 referrals were received with 576 cases assigned for assessment.  
The 15% decrease in referrals and 20% decrease in assessments are attributed to local impacts 
of COVID. 
 
Despite a decrease in referrals, GGRC is notable as the only Regional Center that pivoted and 
continued to provide services for children beyond 3 years who could not be transitioned during 
school closures due to COVID.   
 
The number of children in Early Start represents 7% of children ages 0-3 in San Mateo County 
in favorable comparison to the statewide rate of 3%. However, both the local and statewide 
Early Start enrollment rates are significantly lower that the CDC estimates of 17%.  These 
discrepancies indicate systemic issues related to policy and resources for early intervention 
systems that need to be addressed at state and federal levels.11 Statewide issues, including how 
system complexity and narrow eligibility criteria constrain access to developmental services, are 
clearly identified and described in a recent paper from The First 5 Center for Children’s Policy: 
“Early Identification and Intervention for California’s Infants and Toddlers: 6 Key Takeaways.”12 

 
In San Mateo County, Part B preschool special education services for children 3-5 years are 
provided by 20 local education agencies (LEAs).  Services include assessment and evaluation 
for eligibility, an Individualized Education Plan (IEP) focused on the child’s goals, special 
education; related services such as physical, occupational, and speech therapy, and 
supplementary aids and services, such as adaptive equipment or special communication 
systems.13 The San Mateo County Special Education Local Plan Area (SELPA) provides 
technical assistance and oversight support, acts as an intermediary between the state and 

https://first5center.org/publications/early-identification-and-intervention-for-californias-infants-and-toddlers-6-key-takeaways
https://first5center.org/publications/early-identification-and-intervention-for-californias-infants-and-toddlers-6-key-takeaways


Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 11

  

school districts, and provides communication and dispute resolution services when appropriate 
for parents and school districts.14 

 
In 2020, 1,504 children 3-5 years or 5.6% of children 3-5 years countywide received EII services 
through Part B. Using CDC estimates of 17% of children with significant developmental delays, 
as many as 3,022 children would benefit from these services and many preschool age children 
are missing opportunities for services that would optimize their educational outcomes. 
 
Services for young children with special needs and their families 
The full range of programs and agencies that provide services for children 0-5 with special 
needs and their families are too numerous to cite here, however, key programs and agencies 
are included below. 
 
The Family Resource Center at AbilityPath offers information, education and peer-to-peer 
support to families and caregivers of children of all ages with disabilities.   
 
Family Health Services, part of San Mateo County Health, offers prenatal services, well-child 
check-ups, developmental screenings, support for children with special health needs, parenting 
classes, home visits, and additional services to support and promote the health and wellbeing of 
children and families. 
 
California Children’s Services (CCS) is a state program that provides services for children with 
special health care needs i.e., specified diseases or health conditions. Services include 
arranging, directing, and paying for medical care, occupational and physical therapy, equipment, 
and rehabilitation. CCS served 235 children ages 0-1 and 1,327 children ages 1-21 in 2014.15 

 
Children with special health care needs receive services through their health insurance which 
includes coverage for specialized services, such as medical, physical, occupational, speech and 
language, or behavioral health therapy, based on referral or diagnosis by a physician.  For low-
income families, the Health Plan of San Mateo (HPSM) provides Medi-Cal services for 32.7% of 

children 0-1 and 29.2% of children 1-21 in the county.16 Medi-Cal managed care plans are 

responsible for the coordination of care for all medically necessary Early and Periodic Screening 
Diagnostic and Treatment (EPSDT) services delivered within and outside the managed care 
plan for all children, not just medically complex. EPSDT is the broad set of prevention and 
treatment benefits children are entitled to under federal law. 17, 18 
Additionally, a wide range of private health insurance plans also include coverage for 
specialized services for enrolled children based on referral by a physician.  
 
At the systems level, First 5 San Mateo County invests in an Integrated Systems for Children 
With Special Needs initiative to prioritize a comprehensive Help Me Grow model, including 
community and provider outreach, a centralized access point, developmental and social-
emotional screenings, and care coordination to ensure linkage to services, as well as strategic 
services and supports to fill critical gaps in the local landscape of care.  First 5 San Mateo 
County acts as the backbone for this initiative with AbilityPath designated as the lead agency 
coordinating funded partners including Family Resource Center, Legal Aid Society, Life Steps 
Foundation, Silicon Valley Community Foundation, Stanford Children’s Health: Developmental 
Behavioral Pediatrics and Government and Community Affairs, and Star Vista. 
 
Figure 1: Early Identification and Intervention System in San Mateo County  
Note: The examples provided indicate key agencies and types of services in the EII system and do not 
represent a complete listing of the numerous agencies and programs.  



Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 12

  

 

EARLY IDENTIFICATION EARLY INTERVENTION 

Health 
Care 

Early 
Childhood 
Education 

Family 
Support 
Services 

Families Regional 
Center 

School 
Districts 

Mental 
Health 

Health 
Plans  

Pediatricians 
and child 

health care 
providers 

Public and 
private 

preschools 

Home visiting Family 
Resource 

Center 

Golden Gate 
Regional 
Center 

Preschool 
Special 

Education 

SMC Health:  
Behavioral 
Health & 
Recovery 

Svcs 

Medi-Cal: 
Health Plan 

of San 
Mateo, 

includes 
CCS. 

FQHCs  Head Start and 
Early Head 

Start 

Parent 
education and 
parent-child 

groups 

Help Me 
Grow 

 

Specialized 
Services 

for PT, OT,  
SLT, etc. 

Specialized 
Services 

for PT, OT, 
SLT, etc. 

Magellan  San Mateo 
County 
Health 

San Mateo 
County 

Health Clinics 

Family Child 
Care 

First 5 SMC 
Resilient 
Families  

Life Steps 
Foundation 

Family 
Resource 

Center 

SELPA Star Vista FQHCs 

Kaiser, 
Sutter, and 
pediatric 
clinics 

SMCOE 
Quality 

Counts, The 
Big Lift 

Family 
Connections 

Parca and 
other family 
advocates 

Specialized 
service 

providers 

SMCOE 
Anne 

Campbell 
Center 

In house 
clinical 

services e.g., 
Kaiser 

Pediatric 
Clinics 

SMC Health: 
Family Health 

Services 

Libraries Legal Aid 
Society 

 

Parents 
Helping 
Parents 

 Preschool 
Inclusion 
Programs 

Private 
clinicians 

Hospitals: 
Kaiser, 

LPCH, Mills, 
Sutter 

 Parks & Rec. 
Departments 

Faith based 
programs 

Special 
Advantage 

  Early 
Childhood 

Mental Health 
Consultation 

Private 
health 

insurance 

 
 
Early Identification:  How are children with delays detected and connected to early intervention 
services?  
 
Before they can begin and benefit from EII and special education services, children with special 
needs must first be identified, referred, complete an intake and evaluation to determine whether 
they are eligible for services. 
 
There are two methods for detecting and referring a child to Early Intervention.19 

The first is a referral by a parent or by a provider. Any parent with a concern may apply to 
GGRC for evaluation of their child 0-3 years or to their school district for a child 3-5 years. 
 
Providers serving young children and their families may observe children with developmental or 
behavioral concerns or hear parents’ concerns about their child.  As trusted partners to families 
in the community, they can share information and resources with families interested in further 
services for their child.  Some providers offer Ages and Stages Questionnaires (ASQ) 
screenings and support families through the referral process, including Star Vista, Family 
Connections. Help Me Grow provides community and family outreach, information and 
resources on child development, support for parent and provider questions and concerns, ASQ-



Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 13

  

3 and ASQ: SE 2 screenings, and linkage to services for families with young children in San 
Mateo County. 
 
Early learning providers are well-positioned to identify developmental concerns and refer for 
early intervention or school district services. With their knowledge of child development and 
regular contact with young children and families, they observe and document children’s 
development and behavior over time.  They may provide screenings and referrals for children 
with concerns.   
 
Some effective policies and innovations designed to increase and embed screening in early 
learning programs are described below.   
• Head Start and Early Head Start programs at IHSD and Peninsula Family Services screen all 

children for developmental and social-emotional development as required in the Performance 
Standards.  Children with special needs are included in programs and families supported with 
referrals to EII and preschool special education.   

• The Big Lift initiative includes screenings as a measure of program quality and works with 
preschool classrooms in seven school districts to ensure more at-risk children are ready to 
thrive in school and in life. 

•  80% or 1,446 Big Lift preschool children were screened in 2018-2019 
• 21% had developmental concerns on the ASQ-3, a 5% increase from previous years 
• 23% had monitoring concerns in one or more developmental areas 
• Screening supports include ASQ-3 and ASQ: SE screening tools, ASQ Online, an ASQ 

Hub and training and technical assistance to implement screening systems in 6 school 
districts and programs.  

• The Quality Rating Improvement System (QRIS) sets standards for, supports and monitors 
early learning program quality. Developmental screening is included as a quality indicator. 

• In 2019-2020, 33 agencies, 79 center-based sites and 20 Family Child Care programs 
served 3,736 children  

• 51 center-based sites and 3 Family Child Care programs used the ASQ and ASQ: SE 
and used screening results to support further assessments and referrals 

• QRIS has recently partnered with Help Me Grow to increase and support ASQ 
screenings in Family Child Care 

 
Health Care:  Because 97.8% of children in San Mateo have health insurance,20 pediatric 
health care providers are ideally positioned to identify developmental delays.  They see most 
young children during their first 5 years and have regular opportunities to provide ongoing 
surveillance during well-child visits, to elicit parent concerns, to screen using validated 
screening tools and to refer children with concerns for further evaluation and services.  The AAP 
recommends developmental screening at 9, 18 and 24/30 months and autism screening at 18 
and 24 months.21, 22 Screening incentives and training are available for physicians to administer 
developmental, social-emotional and trauma screenings.23 In a recent survey of local 
pediatricians, 41% reported that they administer developmental screenings frequently or always 
at the recommended intervals.24 

 

Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnosis and Treatment (EPSDT) provides comprehensive 

health coverage for children under 21 enrolled in Medi-Cal, including screenings as a required 
service.  Yet only 21% or only 1 in 5 children with Medi-Cal were screened in 2019.25 

 



Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 14

  

To promote screening and early identification by child health providers, Help Me Grow (HMG) 
partner Stanford Children’s Health provides outreach, resources and training on screening tools 
and systems and referral pathways for pediatricians.  
 
The Help Me Grow Physician Advisory Group convened by Dr. Neel Patel, HMG Physician 
Champion, shares information about innovations in screening, including screening tools, 
resources, policy, and advocacy opportunities among the pediatricians representing the major 
health systems serving young children, including San Mateo County Health, CCS, Kaiser, 
PAMF, GGRC, Stanford School of Medicine, Stanford Health Care and Gardner.  
 
Child Find as the second method for detecting and referring a child to Early Intervention.  
Both Part C and Part B of IDEA contain explicit requirements for states to actively identify 
children and determine their eligibility for services. It targets primary referral sources including 
hospitals, including prenatal and postnatal care facilities, physicians, parents, childcare 
programs and early learning programs, local education agencies and schools, public health 
facilities, social service agencies and other clinic and health care providers, public agencies, 
and staff in the child welfare system, including child protective services and foster care, 
homeless family shelters and domestic violence shelters and agencies.26 

 
GGRC is responsible for Child Find for 0-5 in San Mateo County and provides information and 
outreach to the public and to public agencies about early intervention services.27 

The GGRC website links to information on their process and services, including pamphlets, 
maps, flyers and literature for families and professionals interested in regional center services 
for a child with suspected delays.28 

 

Developmental Surveillance and Screening  
The American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) recommends surveillance at every visit and 
screening all children with validated tools at regular intervals.29 However, in 2016, only 21% or 1 
in 5 children were being screened for developmental or social emotional delays in the medical 
home.30   
 
Surveillance:  Developmental surveillance is a flexible ongoing process used by pediatricians 
which includes eliciting and attending to parental concerns, obtaining a relevant developmental 
history, making accurate and informative observations of children over time, and sharing 
opinions and concerns with other relevant professionals.31 Surveillance includes consideration 
of the child’s environment and dynamic development over time. 
 
Screening: The use of a standardized tool to identify risk and determine the need for further 
evaluation.32 Screening is a highly effective and underutilized strategy for identifying 
developmental and social-emotional delays.  Screening tools that rely on parent reports, such 
as the Ages and Stages Questionnaires (ASQ) have the additional benefit of eliciting parent 
concerns and engaging the family in understanding and supporting their child’s unique strengths 
and needs, including when they might benefit from referral for further assessment and services.   
Currently, training and incentives for developmental, social-emotional and trauma screenings 
are available to health care providers.33 

Parent Report 
Studies showing that parental report of current skills is predictive of developmental delay and 
are the basis for development of widely used screening tools that rely on parent report, such as 
the Ages and Stages Questionnaires (ASQ) and Pediatric Evaluation of Developmental Status 
(PEDS). 34, 35, 36  

https://ectacenter.org/topics/earlyid/idoverview.asp#PartC
https://ectacenter.org/topics/earlyid/idoverview.asp#PartB
https://ectacenter.org/idea/idea.asp


Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 15

  

 
A recent survey of local pediatricians indicates the equal use of parent concerns, surveillance, 
and developmental screening to identify developmental and social emotional delays as 
recommended by the AAP. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 2: How do you identify children with developmental or social-emotional delays?37  
Survey of San Mateo County Pediatricians, Help Me Grow, January 2021 

 
 
 
 

While developmental surveillance is an important method of detecting delays, the use of 
standardized developmental screening tools at periodic intervals will increase accuracy.  
Research in pediatric settings shows that screening tools identify significantly more children with 
delays than surveillance alone.38,39,40,41  



Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 16

  

 
Figure 3: Detection Rates of Children with Delays: With and Without Screening Tools 
 

 
Detection Rates of Children with Delays: 

With and Without Screening Tools 

 Without Screening Tools With Screening Tools 

Developmental Disabilities 30% identified 
Palfrey et al, 1994 

70-80% identified 
Squires et al, 1996 

Mental Health Problems 20% identified 
Lavigne et al, 1993 

80-90% identified 
Sterner, 1991 

 
Local efforts have been made to increase screenings in pediatric clinics because screening 
tools are so effective in detecting children with developmental disabilities and mental health 
needs.  Recently, the South San Francisco Health Center began exploring implementation of an 
electronic screening system.  Help Me Grow Child Health Provider Outreach provides training 
on screening tools and systems for pediatric clinics. Help Me Grow San Mateo County offers 
free online developmental screening for children 0-5 in San Mateo County. 
 
Referral to EII: Bridging early identification and early intervention 
 
Regardless of how developmental delays are noticed, a referral for further assessment is still 
needed to diagnose or evaluate the extent and nature of the delay.  Because IDEA services 
include assessment, a standard recommendation is to refer children 0-3 to GGRC and children 
3-5 to their local school district. Pediatricians may also provide or prescribe diagnostic 
assessments or services for a child utilizing the child's health insurance.   
 
After the referral has been made, IDEA regulates timelines for all the procedures leading up to 
and including the writing of the IFSP, which must be completed within a brief time window (45-
days).  In comparison, 50% more time (60 days) can elapse from the time a parent provides 
permission for their child to be evaluated for Part B special education services until the time the 
child's initial IEP is written. The Part C 45-day time clock starts running when GGRC receives a 
referral about an infant or toddler with a suspected disability or developmental delay, and within 
that 45-day timeframe, the early intervention system must complete the steps to prepare the 
child for early intervention services: 

● Child Find 
● screening 
● initial evaluation of the child to determine eligibility 
● initial assessments of the child and family, and 
● writing the IFSP (if the child has been found eligible) 

 



Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 17

  

Pamphlets and materials describing how to access Early Start services are available on the 
GGRC website. The Pathway for Families to Access Regional Center Services for Children with 
Developmental Delays is a simplified version specific to San Mateo County. 
The more detailed Map to Early Start Services describes timelines and tips for each step and 
Pathway for Professionals to Access Regional Center and/or Local Education Agency (LEA)  
provide descriptions of the steps involved and  shed light on why  some families and providers 
encounter barriers to accessing early intervention. 
 

 
 
 
 
  

http://www.ggrc.org/storage/documents/Pamphlets_and_Other_Literature/Early_Start_Pathway_Families.pdf
http://www.ggrc.org/storage/documents/Pamphlets_and_Other_Literature/Early_Start_Pathway_Families.pdf
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/519fe4bae4b02061e74e5de7/t/56b13fe640261dd5dfcb8735/1454456806518/Map+to+Early+Start.pdf
http://www.ggrc.org/storage/documents/Pamphlets_and_Other_Literature/Early_Start_Pathway_Professionals.pdf


Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 18

  

Part 2: BARRIERS TO EARLY IDENTIFICATION AND INTERVENTION 
 
Barriers and challenges in access to EII for children and families, providers and mandated 
service providers include those that existed prior to the COVID-19 pandemic and those that 
persist or have been exacerbated as the pandemic continues as documented by the Help Me 
Grow Collaborative Roundtable, Help Me Grow San Mateo County and from interviews with key 
informants from GGRC, SELPA and the Health Plan of San Mateo (HPSM).  
 
COVID-related barriers:  The COVID-19 pandemic continues to create new barriers to access 
and magnify existing challenges for children with special needs and their families.  While every 
family has experienced new challenges during COVID-19, there are heightened concerns for 
young children who are not receiving regular medical care, not attending early care, and 
learning programs and who are isolated and at higher risk for abuse and neglect.  These 
concerns are reflected in the low rate of children seen at well-child visits and the reduced 
number of referrals to GGRC.  For low-income families, the increased challenge of meeting their 
family’s basic needs is magnified by crowded housing conditions, job loss, and economic 
instability during the stay-at-home order. School closures have caused delays in transitions, 
IEPs, and school district services.  Reduced well-child visits and referrals to GGRC mean that 
fewer children are served.  Finally, although services provided remotely work well and are even 
preferred by some families, they aren’t working for others because of individual preferences or 
due to limited access or unfamiliarity with technology. 
 
Communication issues are common including communication challenges between families and 
programs, interagency communication, and communications from public agencies. Since the 
beginning of the pandemic, public agencies have invested in efforts to provide current, clear 
information to reduce confusion about changes in recommended practices, policies, and 
procedures.  
 
Existing and Pre-COVID Barriers 
For Families:  Housing, economic instability and food insecurity are most frequently mentioned 
as negatively impacting families’ ability to prioritize and participate in the referral process.  Some 
families are reluctant to engage with GGRC due to their language, cultural preferences, status, 
or previous experience with the system of care.  Some families require additional support to 
understand the importance of EII for their child and to complete the GGRC referral process, 
particularly those with limited organizational or cognitive skills or mental health issues.  Some 
families are discouraged when attempting to reach their GGRC Service Coordinator by phone. 
 
For Providers:  Providers noted frequent issues with the referral process, including lack of 
clarity on how to make a referral, technical issues for referrals submitted via fax and email, and 
referrals that could not be located by GGRC on follow-up and which need to be resubmitted.  
Providers have expressed a strong interest in receiving confirmation of referrals and being 
informed of the outcomes of referrals. 

 
A recent survey of local pediatricians uncovered issues with the referral process to GGRC.  

● Referral process: 60% indicated that the referral process was challenging for them. 
Comments were made on the need for an easier referral system. 

● Follow up: 82% responded that additional follow-up was required to find out the 
outcomes of referrals made to GGRC. 
Comments were made on the needs for better communication between GGRC and the 
medical home including eligibility and sharing medical and developmental assessments. 



Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 19

  

● Comments included appreciation for improved communications with GGRC in recent 
years, that services are delivered effectively after evaluations are completed and 
understanding that GGRC and Early Start is under-resourced as a system. 

● Responses indicated the need to improve communication between families and the 
physicians referring children for Early Start services, specifically regarding the value of 
early intervention services for their child. 

● One provider commented that children in Spanish-speaking families are more likely to 
fall between the cracks and not be evaluated or have delays starting services. 

 
Systems Barriers noted by community providers include: 

● The need for more regular and timely interagency communication with providers from 
GGRC and school districts about changes in policies, processes, eligibility, and 
availability of services, For example, because each of the 20 LEA/school districts have 
their own referral processes and procedures, families and the providers assisting with 
referrals may lack accurate information and experience challenges in the transition from 
Early Start to Preschool Special Education at age 3. 

● Lack of coordination of services between medical and community systems 
● Lack of care coordination for children with special needs and families served through 

multiple systems.  Care coordination supports family-centered planning, eases access to 
and coordination among service providers, and reduces potential duplication and/or 
gaps in services. 

● Wait lists for some EII services, e.g., feeding therapy, due to a limited number and 
availability of providers 
 

Systems barriers and issues for mandated service providers 
Even when referrals for early intervention are successful, the assessment process for early 
intervention often extends beyond the mandated 45-day timeline. GGRC acknowledges that 
timely provision of services is challenging due to delays caused by incomplete referrals, 
cancelled appointments, and based on resources and availability of contracted specialized 
service providers. The table below illustrates how well regional centers in the greater Bay Area 
region met the timeline. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 2018-19 2017-18 2016-17 2015-16 

Local 
 Programs 

Timely 
Services 
(45 days) 

% of infants 
receiving IFSPs 

timely 

Timely 
Services 
(45 days) 

% of infants 
receiving IFSPs 

timely 

Timely 
Services 
(45 days) 

% of infants 
receiving IFSPs 

timely 

Timely 
Services 
(45 days) 

% of infants 
receiving IFSPs 

timely 

Targets 100% 100% 100% 100% 

CALIFORNIA 82.44% 82.25% 88.84% 88.84% 

GGRC 60.61% 60.61% 60.61% 75.9% 

NBRC 66.67& 84% 84% 84% 



Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 20

  

RCEB 51.28% 51.28% 76.67% 77.1% 

SARC 82.35% 82.35% 95% 92.5% 
Data from CA Department of Developmental Services: Early Start Local Performance 

https://www.dds.ca.gov/services/early-start/state-performance-reports/ 

 
 

Transition from GGRC to school district services at age 3 is also noted as a barrier. 
Each of the 20 LEA/school districts have their own process for Preschool Special Education 
which can be confusing for families and the providers assisting with referrals. SELPA and 
GGRC meet regularly to facilitate transitions from Early Start to School District services. 
Transition services are difficult to provide when a child is referred too close to their third birthday 
with insufficient time to complete the IFSP. 

 
 
Systems Challenges and Barriers: Referrals to GGRC and Early Start 
For purposes of this paper referral process refers to the entire referral, evaluation assessment 
and IFSP process. 
 
Frequently mentioned barriers for access to EII are 1) those related to the referral process and 
2) those related to the timely provision of services, in particular the ability to meet the 45-day 
timeline to complete the IFSP.   
 
Providers and families describe barriers related to self-referrals by families, difficulties reaching 
the social worker by phone, faxed referrals to GGRC and the effort required to obtain feedback 
on the outcomes of referrals. 
 
GGRC describes delays to the referral process such as when referrals are incomplete or 
missing required information, when assessors require additional time, when appointments are 
cancelled and need to be rescheduled, and when referrals are received for children whose 
families are not interested in EII services for their child.   
 
Timelines 
Within the 45-day timeline, GGRC is responsible for taking the child’s history, evaluating a 
child’s eligibility for services, conducting family and child assessment, including multidisciplinary 
assessments to describe a child’s unique needs, functioning in each of the developmental 
areas, and completing an IFSP identifying interventions that will be provided based on the 
child’s needs. 
 
Regional centers rely on specialized service providers to complete the required assessments 
and services. These specialized service providers are independent contractors from a limited 
workforce available locally, therefore GGRC is at a disadvantage competing with health 
insurance, private and other payers for their services, which leads to delays completing 
assessments within the timeline and delays in providing some services. 
 
Additional strains on the Regional Center system are the increased number of clients served, 
workforce turnover, and increased requirements from DDS.  The combined factors contribute to 
the challenge of meeting the 45-day timeline for many Regional Centers. 
 



Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 21

  

In addition, GGRC describes delays in the referral process due to receiving referrals with 
incomplete information, cancelled and rescheduled appointments and families not interested in 
services for their child. 
 
A wide range of resources are available to address gaps and barriers in the EII system including 
services included in mandated services, services and supports provided through participation in 
regional or statewide initiatives and resources developed in response to local gaps and barriers. 
 
Some examples of resources for families include: 

● The Family Resource Center at AbilityPath provides information, education, and 
peer-to-peer support to families of children with special needs. 

● Help Me Grow San Mateo County offers a centralized access point for 
information, support, developmental and social emotional screenings, and 
linkage to services. 

● Life Steps Foundation provides information, support, and inclusive services with 
expertise in serving young children with special needs and Asian families. 

● Legal Aid Society assists families of children with disabilities with questions about 
GGRC, school district, CCS, and other services. They also provide a range of 
services for low-income families who encounter barriers to services. 

 
Some examples of resources for providers and agencies include: 

● Help Me Grow Child Health Provider Outreach offers information and training on 
screening tools and systems and referral pathways for pediatric providers. 

● The Big Lift and the Quality Rating Improvement Scale (QRIS) support 
screenings in programs participating in targeted school districts and quality 
improvement initiatives. 

● SELPA provides Alternate Dispute Resolution to mediate between families and 
school districts. 

 
Some examples of systems level collaboration include: 

● IHSD Head Start/Early Head Start collaborating with partners including school 
districts, County Office of Education, community agencies and advocacy groups 
to facilitate a continuity of services to meet children’s developmental needs. 

● DDS funding for Family Resource Center services, including grants to reduce 
disparities in access to services in East Palo Alto and Half Moon Bay. 

● HPSM and GGRC coordinating services for Medi-Cal children to ensure 
continuity of services. 

● SELPA, GGRC and school districts meet regularly to ensure smooth transitions 
for children from early intervention to special education. 

● The Help Me Grow Collaborative Roundtable convening and facilitating multi 
agency, multidisciplinary case discussions of children with complex needs 
encountering barriers to service. 

● The Help Me Grow Physician Advisory Group led by Dr. Neel Patel, HMG 
Physician Champion, includes representatives from the local health systems to 
promote screenings and to share information and resources on screening 
policies, practices, and innovations both locally and statewide. 

● First 5 San Mateo County and Help Me Grow convene the Systems Change 
Group including agencies and programs serving young children with special 
needs to address systems level topics and issues for young children with special 
needs. 



Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 22

  

 
 
 
  



Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 23

  

Part 3:  OPPORTUNITIES TO REDUCE BARRIERS AND IMPROVE THE LOCAL EARLY 
IDENTIFICATION SYSTEM  
 
Although beyond the scope of this section of the paper, it would be remiss to ignore the fact that 
the EII system exists within the context of federal and state mandates, IDEA. And Medicaid law 
for children with Medi-Cal insurance.   
 
In addition to local county efforts, state and federal level policy changes in the Medi-Cal and 

Part C programs are needed to improve the EII system. State and federal action is necessary to 

expand the services Part C and Medi-Cal can provide, increase sustainable funding, and 
improve oversight. Medi-Cal in particular plays a significant role in the EII system and carries a 
lot of responsibility in ensuring children receive screening, care coordination, and treatment for 
developmental concerns. In addition, there is heightened attention on Medi-Cal’s role in the EII 
system currently, given California’s historic and pandemic-related low rates of pediatric 
preventive care access, including developmental screening.42, 43 

 
Issues that can be addressed through advocacy at the state and federal levels include resource 
flows for increased reimbursement rates for services, effectively increasing regional center 
access to contracted service providers and improving service delivery including assessments 
and IFSPs completed within the 45-day timeline.  These and other statewide EII systems issues 
and recommendations are described in Early Identification and Intervention for California’s 
Infants and Toddlers: 6 Key Takeaways, a recent publication from the First 5 Center for 
Children’s Policy. 
 
Addressing the documented barriers on a systemic, rather than individual case level will require 
a collaborative process to prioritize and target efforts.  There are potential solutions to some 
barriers through leveraging existing efforts, such as community collaboration with GGRC to 
expand Child Find efforts, increased interagency communication or outreach to providers 
seeking clarity about the GGRC referral process.  Other barriers might be resolved through 
technical solutions, e.g., lost, or incomplete referrals or tracking progress on the status of 
referrals. 
 
Complex issues that are impacted by state and federal regulations and funding, such as the lack 
of compliance meeting the 45-day timeline for completing IFSPs, may require a different type of 

approach. Despite multiple perspectives on each of these issues, families, providers, mandated 

service providers and policy makers share the goal of ensuring that all children with delays and 
special needs and their families receive the services needed to support their optimal 
development. 
 
The opportunities listed below include possible opportunities to address systemic barriers to 
early intervention services that were shared by key stakeholders. The list below is not intended 
to be exhaustive, but rather to serve as a starting point for community stakeholder discussion 
and action. 
 

Opportunity 1: Expand and improve early identification through developmental 

screenings for all.  Developmental screening reliably identifies children with delays and the 
tools are readily available and easy to use in a variety of settings. Help Me Grow provides family 
and community outreach and access to online ASQs for any family in San Mateo County and 
numerous quality preschool and early learning programs successfully implement screenings.  
While continuing to promote screening in the medical home, we need to seek opportunities to 



Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 24

  

create multiple points of access to screenings. For example, forming partnerships among 
community providers to expand outreach and make screenings available where families with 
young children gather and receive services, such as libraries, parks and recreation programs 
and faith-based organizations.   
 
Opportunity 2:  Shift our concept of EII from detect and refer to a focus on providing a 
continuum of services for children at-risk and matching to the unique needs of children 
and families.  The current model for EII relies exclusively on GGRC for services for children 
with developmental delays.  Most barriers cited above pertain to the referral and assessment 
process for Early Start.  The focus is on whether a child is eligible and receives Early Start 
services.   
 
Making a shift in our way of thinking about access to the EII system from “eligible/not eligible” to 
a framework that describes a system of tiered interventions available to meet the needs of all 
young children and their families has the potential to serve many more children at risk, including 
those with mild to moderate delays, while continuing to serve children with significant delays. 
This is particularly important to consider with (1) our increasing recognition of the impact of 
Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) on young children’s development in the context of 
significant numbers of vulnerable children living in poverty or with multiple ACEs and (2) impacts 
of equity on how children and families can access EII. 
 
Community based early childhood services are widely available throughout the county. Many 
children at-risk for developmental delays and children not identified with delays are served in 
community programs which provide important preventive services, These programs often go 
unrecognized and are only briefly referenced in IDEA as “generic resources” for children who 
are not eligible. 
 
Head Start and Early Head Start are national models of providing a continuum of services for 
young children and their families in community-based settings and in collaboration with GGRC 
and school districts to serve children with a wide range of developmental needs, including 
children identified with developmental delays and disabilities. 
  
Palabritas y Padres is an example of a local community-based intervention developed to 
address gaps in services for children with communication concerns. This short-term intervention 
for Spanish-speaking families provided 8-week parent-child groups where families learned to 
encourage their child’s speech and language, to participate in everyday conversations and to 
gain confidence in their role as their child’s teacher.  Most parents and the therapist reported 
noticeable progress and increased enjoyment of their child.  Several children previously referred 
for EII services made sufficient progress and no longer required additional services; one child 
was diagnosed with autism soon afterwards. Similar groups could be offered with a focus on 
selected developmental areas to promote gross motor, adaptive self-help, or social-emotional 
development. 
 
Alternative paths to services for children with special needs also exist through health insurance, 
quality early care and learning, and parent-participation programs.  Services provided through 
health insurance may provide a limited number of services based on progress towards goals.  In 
comparison, IFSP goals are reviewed and updated at minimum every 6 months, and services 
are provided until the child transitions at age 3.  While limited data is available on the relative 
value and impact of short and long-term services for children with developmental delays, 
maximizing utilization of health insurance to provide EII services is recommended. 



Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 25

  

 
Opportunity 3:  Make high-quality care coordination available for all children with special 
needs to support seamless and appropriate services  
The complexity of the EII system is well described in Navigating the Early Identification and 
Intervention Maze: A Flowchart from the First 5 Center for Children’s Policy. 44 

In a graphic depiction of the EII system from a parent’s perspective, the care map below shows 
one’ mother’s illustration of the complexity of her son’s care. While most children’s needs are 
less complex, it is important to understand the many different service sectors and types of 
services involved in the system of care. 

 
 
Figure 4:  My Son’s Care Map 
Used with permission from Cristin Lind, http://www.cristinlind.com 

 
 
The process of developmental screening, referral for further evaluation, and ongoing 
interventions and services requires coordination among primary care providers, specialists, 
early care and education providers, early intervention and special education programs, and 
families to ensure that children and families receive appropriate services and do not fall through 
the cracks. Referral and care coordination require appropriate tools, such as referral forms, 
feedback mechanisms, and methods of communication among the providers and agencies 
serving children and families.40 

 
Care coordination addresses the interrelated medical, social, developmental, behavioral, 
educational, and financial needs of families.  Effective care coordination connects children to 
services, facilitates provider communication, and supports families as primary caregivers.  While 
care coordination may be available to families of children with complex medical conditions 

https://first5center.org/eii-flowchart
https://first5center.org/eii-flowchart
http://www.cristinlind.com/


Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 26

  

(CMCs), funding for care coordination outside the medical system is difficult to access for most 
children with special health care needs. 
 
Locally, HPSM and CCS provide care coordination for CMCs but most children with special 
health care needs who would benefit never receive care coordination services and their families 
do the best they can to coordinate their child’s services. EPSDT requires coordination of care 
for children with MediCal and is a promising opportunity to expand care coordination for children 
with special health care needs. 
 
A local example of successful care coordination is Help Me Grow which provides screenings, 
and care coordination that includes family support for referrals to EII, and follow-up to support 
linkage to services.  For greater impact, Help Me Grow services could be maximized through 
countywide scale and spread to support increased family access to GGRC and school district 
services and community-based resources.  Without systematic care coordination, the most 
vulnerable children can easily go undetected and slip between the cracks in the system. With 
care coordination, children are linked to and receive the EII services needed to optimize their 
health and development, families are supported while learning to navigate the system, and 
providers have confidence in making referrals for EII services. 
 
Opportunity 4:  

 
Support families to receive timely access to assessment through 1) targeted care 

coordination to support linkage to services, 2) an alternative dispute resolution process, 

and 3) increased collaboration with GGRC to better understand the mechanisms to 

address systemic barriers such as timelines more expediently and partner on solutions. 

Due to their rapid growth and brain development from 0-3 years, timely access to EII services is 

of critical importance for young children. While parents have rights to pursue legal action for 

delays and disagreements, enhanced care coordination and access to a transparent alternative 

dispute resolution process could provide quicker resolution and access to services. 

 
1) Targeted care coordination to support linkage to services 

 
While many families successfully navigate through the referral process, others encounter more 
barriers completing the required steps in the referral process to obtain services for their child. 
Bolstering support for these families could help to address issues such as delays, 
miscommunication, and complaints requiring further advocacy. 
 
For parents and providers, a natural sense of protectiveness for their baby or toddler with 
special needs is coupled with the hope that services are available to support their child’s 
development in the early years. When the child or family has complex medical or psychosocial 
needs, there is a heightened sense of urgency to connect them to services.  However, some 
families are additionally challenged by other factors based on cultural background, previous 
experience with the system, immigration status or may lack awareness of their child’s rights to 
EII services. These families may be reluctant to question delays or be challenged by 
requirements to provide additional information and participate in the assessment or evaluation 
and are unlikely to complain when services are delayed or denied.  For these families, care 
coordination services can support their understanding of how their child might benefit from early 
intervention services, support their access to early intervention services in a family centered 
manner and support their ability to navigate the system. 



Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 27

  

 
2) Alternate Dispute Resolution Process 

 
IDEA requires the timely resolution of complaints through: (1) mediation; (2) minimum complaint 
procedures; and (3) due process hearing procedures.45 While parents have rights to pursue 
legal action, it could be less costly and contentious to create an alternate, more transparent 
process to address issues in a way that produces the best results for all in a more expedient 
manner.  In many cases, access to an alternative process might offer swifter resolution and 
save the time and emotional and financial cost to families and of going through the formal 
process of mediation, complaint, and due process. 
 
An innovative local example of alternative dispute resolution is the SELPA Appropriate Dispute 
Resolution (ADR)41 process for conflict resolution with the goal of avoiding conflict at the family 
and district level.  Through parent engagement, parent training and staff training, conflict is 
preempted by building capacity through prevention, interventions for disagreements, more 
intensive interventions when members are “stuck”, and facilitated resolution to resolve conflicts. 
The process is rapid, responsive, free of charge, confidential, protective of legal rights and 
focused on desired outcomes.  
 
In another local example, the Help Me Grow Collaborative Roundtable is convened by 
Developmental Behavioral Pediatrics at Stanford Children’s Health, for case discussion of 
young children with complex medical or psycho-social needs who encounter barriers to service. 
The members include representation from a range of programs serving children with special 
needs including SELPA, HPSM and GGRC.  Through facilitated case discussion, providers 
familiar with the child and family identify resources or strategies to address gaps or barriers, 
develop a plan and designate a provider responsible for follow-up with the family who closes the 
loop by updating the group at a future meeting. Legal Aid Society participates in the Roundtable 
and assists families of children with disabilities with questions about GGRC, school district, 
CCS, and other services. They also provide a range of services for low-income families who 
encounter barriers to accessing services. A similar model of care coordination collaborative to 
discuss complex cases of children with special health care needs and systems level issues has 
successfully addressed barriers in other counties. 
 

3) Increased collaboration with GGRC to better understand the mechanisms to 

address systemic barriers such as timelines more expediently and partner on 

solutions. 

 
Some barriers are persistent, have been noted by many families and reported by multiple 
providers, such as children not receiving an IFSP within the 45-day timeline.  For barriers that 
are documented repeatedly, a closer examination of the root causes and data would help to 
understand if some families or populations are more likely to experience a particular barrier to 
services or whether the source of the barrier is rooted in an institutional process, practice, or 
policy.  Establishing a consistent format to address systems level barriers with relevant 
stakeholders could promote the adoption of equitable and systemic solutions through a 
collaborative approach with the shared goal of ensuring that young children with delays receive 
appropriate and timely support and services.   
 
Opportunity 5: Promote transparency and interagency data sharing to fully understand 
the current landscape of EII services, make informed decisions where to target systems 



Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 28

  

improvement efforts and to ensure that children with special needs are being connected 
to services. 
Data is fundamental to understanding the current landscape of EII including gaps and barriers, 
to targeting systems improvement efforts, and to evaluate progress towards the goal of a 
system of seamless services supporting the development of young children with special needs.  
In complex systems such as the EII system, transparency of metrics and sharing of data across 
agencies is needed to accurately describe how well the system is doing in meeting goals, to 
plan improvements, and to measure their effectiveness and continue to adjust. 
 
An example of the need for data sharing is incomplete screening data countywide.  Because 
screenings are conducted in multiple programs across service sectors with different funding 
streams, outcome measures and data systems and metrics, there is no reliable baseline data 
for the number of screenings, or the number of children screened countywide.  There are 
examples of agencies that include developmental screenings in performance measures and 
reporting such as HPSM for children with Medi-Cal, The Big Lift and QRIS for children in 
selected preschools and early care and learning programs, and Head Start/Early Head Start for 
children who are eligible based on age, income, homelessness, as a foster child or as a child 
with disabilities. 
 
A centralized screening registry or database available to primary care and community providers 
has the potential to prevent duplication and proactively identify children. The OC Children’s 
Screening Registry is an example of how it is possible to communicate screening data between 
organizations and providers and link children to services and referrals. 
 
A local, though more limited, example of centralized screening data is the ASQ Hub at SMCOE 
developed for The Big Lift, All participating programs have access to an online ASQ database to 
track screenings and screening results of children in their program and SMCOE can monitor 
linked programs and generate reports with aggregate data.   
 
A local example of a more comprehensive client data system for tracking screenings, referrals 
and referral outcomes is the Help Me Grow STAR database. Care coordinators use the 
database to gather individual client information for intake, link automatically to the ASQ online 
screenings completed by families, and enter referrals made matched to concerns, and referral 
follow-up reminders to ensure that care coordinator contacts the family or referral for the 
outcome of the and ensure that children and families are connected to services.  
 
To address the issues related to providers who want to be informed of the outcomes of referrals   
but who have limited capacity and resources to follow up, a centralized referral database 
tracking the status of referrals to GGRC would provide visibility into whether referrals were 
received, the status of the referral and whether the IFSP has been completed and the child is 
receiving services. Despite significant resource, data sharing and privacy issues related to 
building a shared referral database, there are clear benefits for children, families, and the 
providers and organizations serving them in expediting and tracking referrals, coordination of 
services, and improved communication and relationships.  
 
 
 
 
 
 



Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 29

  

Next Steps: Developing shared priorities tor systems change efforts and action 

 
In conclusion, while there is widespread agreement among families, providers and agencies 
serving young children with special needs of the need to improve access to the EII system, the 
next steps will require collaborative development of shared priorities for local system change 
efforts. The next steps in addressing systemic barriers will require collaborative development of 
shared priorities for local system change efforts with all partners and agencies invested in 
improving the local EII system. This includes families, health care, family support services, San 
Mateo County Health, Health Plan of San Mateo, San Mateo County Office of Education, 
SELPA, Help Me Grow San Mateo County, First 5 San Mateo County and GGRC.  
 
To actualize the vision for family-centered, trauma informed, equitable systems it is imperative 
to look to families for their lived wisdom and experience.  
 
Aligning our local efforts with organizations advocating for policy and legislative change 
addressing systemic barriers with transparency and accountability at the state level, such as the 
First 5 Center for Children’s Policy is highly recommended. “ 
 
“Children deserve our collective attention and action. We look forward to co-creating solutions 
that move the EII System to a more robust and sustainable reality for children, families, and 

providers.” 

     -Michelle Blakely, First 5 San Mateo County 
 
 
 
 
 
  



Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 30

  

Endnotes 

1 Boyle CA, Boulet S, Schieve, LA, et al. Trends in the prevalence of developmental disabilities in U.S. children, 19972008. 
Pediatrics 2011; 127:103442. 

2 McLean LK, Cripe JW. The effectiveness of early intervention for children with communication disorders. In: MJ Guralnik, ed. The 
effectiveness of early intervention. Baltimore, MD: Brookes Publishing. 1997:349428  

3 American Speech-Language-Hearing Association. Roles and responsibilities of speech-language pathologists in early 
intervention: Technical report. Rockville, MD: American Speech-Language-Hearing Association; 2008   

4 Hebbeler K, Spiker D, Bailey D, et al. Early intervention for infants and toddlers with disabilities and their families: participants, 
services, and outcomes. Final report of the National Early Intervention Longitudinal Study (NEILS). Menlo Park, CA: SRI 
International; 2007 

5 Landa RJ, Holman KC, O'Neill AH, Stuart EA. Intervention targeting development of socially synchronous engagement in toddlers 
with autism spectrum disorder: a randomized controlled trial. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2011; 52:13 21. 

6 Hebbeler, K.! (2009). First five years fund briefing: Presentation given at a Congressional briefing on June 11,2009, to discuss 
Education that works: The impact of early childhood intervention on reducing the need for special education services. Retrieved 
from! http://www.sri.com/neils/pdfs/FFYF_Briefing_Hebbeler_Jun e2009_test.pdf 
 
7 Moxley, Kathleen & Squires, Jane & Lindstrom, Lauren. (2012). Early Intervention and Maltreated Children: A Current Look at the 
Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act and Part C. Infants & Young Children. 25. 3–18. 10.1097/IYC.0b013e3182392ff0. 
 
8 California Dept. of Finance, Population Estimates and Projections (May 2020); U.S. Census Bureau, Population and Housing Unit 
Estimates (Jul. 2020). 
 
9 Zablotsky B, Black LI, Maenner MJ, Schieve LA, Danielson ML, Bitsko RH, Blumberg SJ, Kogan MD, Boyle CA. Prevalence and 
Trends of Developmental Disabilities among Children in the US: 2009–2017. Pediatrics. 2019; 144(4): e20190811 
 
10 Jenco, M. (2019, September 26.) Study: 1 in 6 children has developmental disability. AAP News & Journals Gateway. https:// 
www.aappublications.org/news/2019/09/26/disabilities092619 
 
11 Per GGRC and CA Department of Developmental Services:  Monthly Consumer Caseload Redacted* Report: Regional Center 
Caseloads by Consumer Status Through January 2021, DDS from https://www.dds.ca.gov/transparency/facts-stats/ 
 
12 Parma, A, Early Identification and Intervention for California’s Infants and Toddlers: 6 Key Takeaways, September 2020: First 5 
Center for Children’s Policy 
 
13 Centers for Disease Control:  https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/cp/treatment.html 
 
14 San Mateo County SELPA  https://www.smcoe.org/about/san-mateo-county-selpa/ 
 
15 Stanford Center for Policy, Outcomes, and Prevention, analysis of CCS claims data (Jun. 2017) 
 
16 California Dept. of Health Care Services, Eligible Individuals Under Age 21 Enrolled in Medi-Cal (Jul. 2019); California Dept. of 
Finance, Population Estimates and Projections, 2000-2009, 2010-2060 (May 2019). 
 
17 https://www.dhcs.ca.gov/formsandpubs/Documents/MMCDAPLsandPolicyLetters/APL2019/APL19-010.pdf 
 
18 https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/benefits/early-and-periodic-screening-diagnostic-and-treatment/index.html 
 
19  Early Childhood Technical Assistance Center: 
https://ectacenter.org/topics/earlyid/idoverview.asp#:~:text=eligibility%20for%20services.-
,Part%20C,three%20as%20early%20as%20possible. 
 
20  U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey Summary Files and Public Use Microdata (Oct. 018). 
 
21 Lipkin P., Macias, M. Promoting Optimal Development: Identifying Infants and Young Children With Developmental Disorders 
Through Developmental Surveillance and Screening, Pediatrics January 2020, 145 (1) e20193449; DOI: 
https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2019-3449 
 
22 Hyman, S.L., Levy, S.E., Myers, SM, Identification, Evaluation, and Management of Children With Autism Spectrum.  Pediatrics 
January 2020, 145 (1) e20193447; DOI: https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2019-3447 
 
23 State of California. Health and Human Services Agency, Department of Health Care Services Proposition 56 Developmental 
Screenings Policy October 2019 
 
24 Help Me Grow San Mateo County: Survey of San Mateo County Pediatricians on Early Identification (January 2021). 
 
25 UCLA Center for Health Policy Research, California Health Interview Survey (Aug. 2020). 

http://www.dof.ca.gov/Forecasting/Demographics
https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/popest/data/data-sets.html
https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/popest/data/data-sets.html
http://www.aappublications.org/news/2019/09/26/disabilities092619
https://www.dds.ca.gov/transparency/facts-stats/
https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/cp/treatment.html
https://www.smcoe.org/about/san-mateo-county-selpa/
https://data.chhs.ca.gov/dataset/eligible-individuals-under-age-21-enrolled-in-medi-cal-by-county
http://www.dof.ca.gov/Forecasting/Demographics
https://ectacenter.org/topics/earlyid/idoverview.asp#:~:text=eligibility%2520for%2520services.-,Part%2520C,three%2520as%2520early%2520as%2520possible
https://ectacenter.org/topics/earlyid/idoverview.asp#:~:text=eligibility%2520for%2520services.-,Part%2520C,three%2520as%2520early%2520as%2520possible
https://ectacenter.org/topics/earlyid/idoverview.asp#:~:text=eligibility%20for%20services.-,Part%20C,three%20as%20early%20as%20possible
https://ectacenter.org/topics/earlyid/idoverview.asp#:~:text=eligibility%20for%20services.-,Part%20C,three%20as%20early%20as%20possible
https://factfinder.census.gov/
https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/acs/data/pums.html
https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2019-3449
https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2019-3447


Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 31

  

 
25 Special Education Guide: Early Identification and the Child Find Guide:  

https://www.specialeducationguide.com/early-intervention/early-identification-how-the-child-find-program-works/ 

26 US Department of Education: Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), Section 300.111 and 303.302 Comprehensive 
child find system 
 
27 Golden Gate REgional Center: Pamphlets and other Literature: http://www.ggrc.org/resources/pamphlets-a-other-literature 
 
28 American Academy of Pediatrics, Promoting Optimal Development: Identifying Infants and Young Children with Developmental 
Disorders Through Developmental Surveillance and Screening, is available at https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2019-3449 
 
29 UCLA Center for Health Policy Research, California Health Interview Survey (Aug. 2020). 
 
30 Identifying Infants and Young Children With Developmental Disorders in the Medical Home: An Algorithm for Developmental 
Surveillance and Screening, Council on Children With Disabilities, Section on Developmental Behavioral Pediatrics, Bright Futures 
Steering Committee and Medical Home Initiatives for Children With Special Needs Project Advisory Committee: Pediatrics July 
2006,  118 (1) 405-420; DOI: https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2006-1231 
 
29 American Academy of Pediatrics STAR Center: Screening Technical Assistance Resource Center from https://www.aap.org/en-
us/advocacy-and-policy/aap-health-initiatives/Screening/Pages/default.aspx 
 
30 Department of Health Care Services (DHCS) All Plan Letter (APL) 19-016, December 26, 2019. 
Department of Health Care Services (DHCS) All Plan Letter (APL) 19-016, December 26, 2019 
 
31 Diamond KE (1993) The role of parents' observations and concerns in screening for developmental delays in young children. 
Topics in Early Childhood Special Education 13:68–81 
 
32 Bricker D, Squires J. (1989) The effectiveness of parental screening of at-risk infants: the infant monitoring questionnaires. 
Topics in Early Childhood Special Education 9:67–85 
 
33 Doig KB, Macias MM, Saylor CF, Craver JR, Ingram PE. (1999) The child development inventory: a developmental outcome 
measure for follow-up of the high-risk infant. J Pediatr 135:358–362 
 
34 Help Me Grow San Mateo County, Survey of San Mateo County Pediatricians, January 2021 
 
35 Palfrey, J. S., Singer, J. D., Walker, D. K. & Butler, J. A. (1994). Early identification of 
children’s special needs: a study in five metropolitan communities. Journal of Pediatrics, 111, 651-655 
 
36 Squires, J., Nickel, R. E., & Eisert, D. (1996). Early detection of developmental problems: Strategies for monitoring young 
children in the practice setting. Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics, 17(6), 410-427. 
 
37 Lavigne, J., Binns, H., Christoffel, K., Rosenbaum, D., Arend, R., Smith, K., et al. (1993). Behavior and emotional problems 
among preschool children in pediatric primary care: Prevalence and pediatricians' recognition. Pediatrics, 91, 649-655. 
 
38 Sturner, R.A. (1991). Parent questionnaires: Basic office equipment? Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics,12, 51-
54. 
 
39 Parma, A, Early Identification and Intervention for California’s Infants and Toddlers: 6 Key Takeaways, September 2020: First 5 
Center for Children’s Policy 
 
40 Parma, A. California’s Early Identification and Intervention System and the Role of Help Me Grow. May 2020: First 5 Center for 
Children’s Policy 
 
41 National Academy for State Health Policy, 2020 Environmental Scan from https://healthychild.nashp.org/referral/#tab-id-2 
 
42 https://www.auditor.ca.gov/pdfs/reports/2018-111.pdf 
 
43 https://doi.org/10.26099/bvhf-e411 

 
44 Parma, A, Early Identification and Intervention for California’s Infants and Toddlers: 6 Key Takeaways, September 2020: First 5 
Center for Children’s Policy 
 
45 Office of Special Education, US Department of Education, Part C IDEA Final Regulations: C-12 Procedural Safeguards: 
November 2011 
 
46 San Mateo County SELPA Appropriate Dispute Resolution (ADR) 
https://www.smcoe.org/about/san-mateo-county-selpa/alternative-dispute-resolution.html 
 

https://www.specialeducationguide.com/early-intervention/early-identification-how-the-child-find-program-works/
http://www.ggrc.org/resources/pamphlets-a-other-literature
https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2019-3449
http://healthpolicy.ucla.edu/chis
https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2006-1231
https://www.aap.org/en-us/advocacy-and-policy/aap-health-initiatives/Screening/Pages/default.aspx
https://www.aap.org/en-us/advocacy-and-policy/aap-health-initiatives/Screening/Pages/default.aspx
https://healthychild.nashp.org/referral/#tab-id-2
https://www.smcoe.org/about/san-mateo-county-selpa/alternative-dispute-resolution.html


Attachment 3.1 
 

The Early Identification  
and Intervention System in San Mateo County: An Environmental Scan : 32

  

47 Kania, J., Kramer, M., Senge, P, The Water of Systems Change.  FSG: Boston: June 2018 
 
 

 


